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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION 
 

 
FAIR HOUSING CENTER OF CENTRAL 
INDIANA, INC., 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
 
MARION E. HALSTEAD, individually and as 
trustee of MARION E. HALSTEAD REVOCABLE 
TRUST DATED OCTOBER 11, 2002, 
 

Defendant. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
Case No. 1:23-cv-860  
 
 
 

 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE, DECLARATORY, AND MONETARY RELIEF 

I.  INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana, Inc. (“Fair Housing Center”), an 

organization dedicated to ensuring equal housing opportunities, brings this action against 

defendant for injunctive, declaratory, and monetary relief for discriminatory housing practices 

that have the purpose or effect, or both, of limiting housing opportunities for individuals with 

disabilities in violation of the Fair Housing Act, and related, supplemental state law claims.  

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over plaintiff’s federal claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, and 42 U.S.C § 3613. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction to 

consider plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because those claims are 

related to plaintiff’s federal law claims and arise out of a common nucleus of facts. Plaintiff’s 

state law claims are related to plaintiff’s federal claims such that those claims form part of the 

same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 
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3. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391 because the events alleged in this 

complaint occurred in Marion County, Indiana. 

III.  PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana, Inc. (“the Fair Housing Center” 

or “FHCCI”) is a private, nonprofit Indiana corporation working to ensure equal housing 

opportunities by eliminating housing discrimination through advocacy, enforcement, education, 

and outreach. It is the only private, nonprofit fair housing agency in the State of Indiana. Its 

offices are located in Indianapolis. The Fair Housing Center has diverted significant staff time 

and resources to investigate defendant’s discriminatory housing practices, as alleged herein.  

5. Defendant Marion E. Halstead manages the apartment complex located at 1512 

North Pennsylvania Street in Indianapolis (“Penn Street Apartments.”) He is the trustee of the 

Marion E. Halstead Revocable Trust dated October 11, 2002, which owns the Penn Street 

Apartments. The Penn Street Apartments are comprised of 24 apartment units available for rental 

to members of the general public. The Penn Street Apartments, and each of the apartment units 

located there, are dwellings within the meaning of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602.  

6. The Penn Street Apartments are located in the Old Northside area of Indianapolis, 

walking distance from Indiana University Health Methodist Hospital, medical offices, many 

businesses, and other services. It is located along public transportation lines. In addition, the 

relatively low monthly rents make the dwellings at Penn Street Apartments affordable for those 

who rely on public benefits such as Social Security. Its central location, accessibility to public 

transportation and health amenities, and affordable rents make the Penn Street Apartments ideal 

for individuals with various disabilities who have fixed incomes. 

7. In committing each of the discriminatory acts alleged in this complaint, defendant 
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Marion E. Halstead acted as the agent or co-conspirator of the Marion E. Halstead Revocable 

Trust dated October 11, 2002, or vice versa. 

IV.  FACTS 

A.  Introduction 

8. The Fair Housing Act of 1968 (FHA) prohibits a broad range of discriminatory 

housing practices based on race, color, national origin, and various other protected 

characteristics. 42 U.S.C. § 3604 et seq., 24 C.F.R. Part 100. Congress amended the FHA in 

1988 to add handicap1 as a protected characteristic. 42 U.S.C. § 3604 (f). Handicap is defined as 

having a mental or physical impairment which substantially limits one or more major life 

activities, or a record of having such an impairment, or being regarded as having such an 

impairment. 42 USC 3602(h). The term handicap covers a wide range of mental, physical, and 

cognitive conditions, including but not limited to autism, HIV, emotional illness, and some 

learning disabilities – if the condition poses a substantial limitation on one or more major life 

functions. See 24 C.F.R. § 100.201. 

9. The Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 extended all substantive protections 

identified in the original FHA to prohibit disability-based discrimination. The amendments make 

it unlawful, inter alia: 

• to discriminate or “make unavailable or deny a dwelling” to any renter because of 

handicap (§ 3604(f)(1)); 

• to refuse to rent or negotiate for the rental of a dwelling because of handicap 

(3604(a));  

• to discriminate in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the rental of a dwelling 

 
1 Plaintiff uses the terms handicap and disability herein interchangeably. 
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because of handicap (§ 3604(b) and (f)(2));  

• to make any statement with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling, verbally or 

in writing, that indicates a preference, limitation, or discrimination, or an intention 

to prefer, limit, or discriminate, based on handicap (§ 3604(c)).  

10. The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) is 

charged with implementation of the FHA, including promulgating regulations interpreting the 

law. HUD regulations echo holdings in case law under the FHA that it is unlawful to “make an 

inquiry determine whether an applicant for a dwelling, a person intending to reside in that 

dwelling after it is … rented or made available … has a handicap or to make inquiry as to the 

nature or severity of a handicap of such a person.” 24 C.F.R. § 100.202 (c); Jancik v. HUD, 44 

F.3d 553, 556 (7th Cir. 1995) (holding that asking testers about their race during a screening 

interview violated § 3604 (c), because an “ordinary listener” would understand the question to 

indicate an impermissible racial preference). 

11. Housing providers are permitted to inquire about whether an applicant has a 

disability, or the nature of a disability, only for limited and specifically enumerated reasons. 

HUD regulations permit such inquiries only if the type of dwelling is restricted to persons with 

certain disabilities, or persons with disabilities are entitled to priority, or a housing provider is 

inquiring about whether an applicant is not covered as a person with a disability as the result of 

the current abuse of a controlled substance or a past conviction of the illegal manufacture or 

distribution of a controlled substance. 24 C.F.R. § 100.202(c)(1 through 5). 

12. Discriminatory statements violate the FHA even if the speaker harbors no malice 

and does not intend to discriminate. See, e.g., Jancik, 44 F.3d at 556.   
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B.  The Fair Housing Center’s Complaint 

i. FHCCI receives two complaints. 

13. In January 2018, the FHCCI received a complaint from an individual alleging that 

defendant engaged in discrimination based on disability in the operation of the Penn Street 

Apartments. The complainant alleged that he contacted the Penn Street Apartments to inquire 

about renting a dwelling. He told the man who answered the phone that he was visually impaired 

and receives his income from Social Security and a part-time job. The man who answered the 

phone stated that they “don’t have apartments for disabled people,” or words to that effect. 

14. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the man who spoke 

with this complainant in January 2018 was Marion E. Halstead. 

15. In February 2020, the FHCCI received a second complaint from an individual 

alleging that defendant engaged in discrimination based on disability in the operation of the Penn 

Street Apartments. The complainant alleged that she had a disability, and that her income was 

derived from Social Security Disability Income (SSDI). She alleged that she called the Penn 

Street Apartments to inquire about renting a dwelling. When she informed the man who 

answered the phone that her income was from SSDI, the man stated that he would not accept her 

as a tenant. 

16. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the man who spoke 

with this complainant in February 2020 was Marion E. Halstead. 

17. As a result of these complaints, FHCCI opened an investigation into defendant’s 

operation of the Penn Street Apartments. That investigation included the use of fair housing 

testers. Testers are individuals who contact a housing provider posing as potential tenants using 
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an assigned profile. Testers report their interactions to FHCCI, which then determines if the tests 

reveal evidence of discriminatory housing practices. 

ii. FHCCI conducts testing that corroborates defendant’s discriminatory housing practices. 

18. On or around June 15, 2020, Tester LC from FHCCI contacted the Penn Street 

Apartments by phone at the number listed on the banner posted on the side of the building, as 

shown in Figure 1, below. 

 

19. A man answered the phone by stating, “Halstead Enterprises.” Tester LC asked 

about available units, and the man provided her with rental and application information. Tester 

LC asked the man what type of proof of income he required, because “my husband doesn’t work 

and receives SSDI as his income, and I work part time,” or words to that effect. The man 

responded that Tester LC had “said some words” that he didn’t “like,” and that “it won’t go 

along for me,” or words to that effect. He added that the apartment was just meant for one 

person. Toward the end of the call, the man asked Tester LC for her name, which she provided, 

Fig u re  1  

Case 1:23-cv-00860-RLY-MKK   Document 1   Filed 05/17/23   Page 6 of 14 PageID #: 6



7 
 

and he told her that his name was “Gene Halstead.” 

20. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Gene Halstead is the 

same person as Marion E. Halstead. 

21. On or around October 5, 2020, FHCCI Tester KS contacted the phone number 

posted at the Penn Street Apartments to inquire about rentals. The man who picked up the phone 

stated, “Halstead Enterprises.” Tester KS asked for information about available apartments, 

which the man provided. Tester KS asked the man if he required proof of income with the 

application. The man said “absolutely.” The tester stated that she was “on disability” and wanted 

to make sure she had the correct paperwork. The man mumbled something that Tester KS could 

not understand, and then asked her how much she received. She answered. The man asked Tester 

KS for her age, and she answered. The man then asked Tester KS about the nature of her 

disability. Tester KS said that she would rather not disclose it. The man then stated, “you’re 

going to have to talk about it, sweetie,” or words to that effect. He added that it was an “old” 

building that was not accessible for wheelchairs. Tester KS stated that she had a mental 

disability, not a physical one, and that she struggled with PTSD and anxiety. The man stated, 

“well that income will evaporate once it’s cured, right?” or words to that effect. Tester KS stated 

that it was not curable. The man asked KS for her name, and she provided it. He stated, “look, I 

don’t think I have enough information here. I’m going to pass for now.” Tester KS asked for his 

name, and he responded with his first name, which the tester could not make out, and his last 

name, “Halstead.” 

22. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the man who 

identified his last name as Halstead during this call is Marion E. Halstead. 

23. On or about April 28, 2021, FHCCI Tester KD contacted the phone number 
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posted on the outside of the Penn Street Apartments. A man answered the phone and said, 

“Halstead.” Tester KD asked if there were any available apartments, and the man said, “well, 

yes. For you?” Tester KD replied, “yes.” The man asked, “are you working?” Tester KD stated 

that she received SSDI. The man stated, “What is your─” and then cut himself off. He then 

stated that it was an older building that had not been “updated for people with disabilities,” or 

words to that effect. Tester KD stated that her disability was not physical. The man asked, “What 

is it?” Tester KD stated that she was not comfortable discussing it. The man said that he thought 

it was best to “drop it,” because the building is not updated. Tester KD then disclosed, per her 

profile, that she had PTSD. She added that her income could be used to pay the rent. The man 

said, “we assume you’re on medication, right?” Tester KD said she was not comfortable 

answering the question. The man said “Dear, I don’t think we’re interested, I’m sorry,” or words 

to that effect. He hung up the phone.  

24. Later the same day, on or about April 28, 2021, Tester KD called the same 

number again and spoke with the same man. KD reminded the man that she had spoken with him 

earlier, and stated that she was calling back to see if he would rent to her with her disability 

income. He stated that he had “terminated” the previous conversation because she had not 

answered his questions. Tester KD stated that she was uncomfortable with his questions, but 

would answer them to move things along. The man then asked KD to explain what PTSD was, 

and she complied. The man asked what kind of medication she took, and she replied. He asked 

Tester KD her age, and she replied. He asked how long she had been received SSDI, and she 

replied. The man asked if her condition improved, what would happen to her income. Tester KD 

stated that she did not believe that she would lose her income, because her benefits came with no 

expectation that she would ever be cured. The man stated that he “might want to have more 

Case 1:23-cv-00860-RLY-MKK   Document 1   Filed 05/17/23   Page 8 of 14 PageID #: 8



9 
 

conversations about that.” By the end of the conversation, the man stated that the tester might 

qualify to rent a dwelling from him. He asked again if she had any physical disabilities, because 

the building was old and not suited for such people. Tester KD asked for the name’s name, and 

he stated “Gene Halstead.” 

25. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Gene Halstead is the 

same person as Marion E. Halstead. 

26. On or about May 16, 2022, Tester SZ called the phone number listed on the Penn 

Street Apartments and spoke with a man who stated that there might be a unit available by the 

end of August. The tester asked about the rent, security deposit, and application requirements. 

The man stated that the applicant must provide a paper pay stub to verify their income. Tester SZ 

asked the man if he accepted SSDI as proof of income. The man said that SSDI usually does not 

meet his “standard for income.” He stated that he required the applicant to show that one week of 

their net pay, after taxes, was equal to or more than the monthly rent. The man told the tester that 

she could call back later when she was ready to move. 

27.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the man who spoke 

with Tester SZ was Marion E. Halstead. 

28. On February 18, 2023, Tester KB called the number posted on the side of the 

Penn Street Apartments. A man answered and said, “Halstead Enterprises.” Tester KB asked the 

man about available units. The man asked Tester KB if she worked. She replied that she had a 

part-time job. The man asked Tester KB how much she earned. She stated that she had $600 per 

month in income from her part-time job and $900 per month from social security disability 

benefits. The man asked Tester KB what kind of disability she had. Tester KB said that she 

would rather not say. The man stated, “Dear, I have a good reason for asking. Do you want to 
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know what it is?” or words to that effect. Then he continued, stating that the building was not 

designed for people who cannot use stairs. Tester KB stated that her disability was not physical. 

The man stated that he had someone at the door. He stated, “you probably better not,” or words 

to that effect. Tester KB asked, “I better not what?” The phone line went silent. Tester KB said 

“hello?” twice, but did not receive any response, so she hung up.  

29. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the man who spoke 

with Tester KB was Marion E. Halstead.  

V.  INJURY 

30. The Fair Housing Center diverted resources to counseling callers with disabilities 

who were affected by defendant’s discriminatory conduct, investigating the existence and scope 

of that conduct, and counteracting the effects of that conduct. As a result of that conduct, the Fair 

Housing Center also undertook community outreach and public efforts to raise awareness of 

discriminatory housing practices based on disability.  

31. By requiring the Fair Housing Center to expend substantial time and resources 

identifying and counteracting defendant’s unlawful conduct, defendant harmed the Fair Housing 

Center by forcing it to divert scarce resources away from its usual education, training, counseling 

and capacity-building programs and activities to programs and activities to identify and counteract 

defendant’s discriminatory housing practices.  Because the Fair Housing Center has limited 

resources, the time and resources it spent to identify and counteract defendant’s practices meant that 

it had fewer resources to devote to its usual education, training, counseling and capacity-building 

activities. The Fair Housing Center seeks compensatory damages under the Fair Housing Act for 

this diversion of its resources. 

32. Defendant’s discriminatory housing practices have frustrated the Fair Housing 

Case 1:23-cv-00860-RLY-MKK   Document 1   Filed 05/17/23   Page 10 of 14 PageID #: 10



11 
 

Center’s mission. The Fair Housing Center must continue to take action to counteract the effects of 

defendant’s discrimination, including educating the residents of Indiana about housing 

discrimination. Accordingly, the Fair Housing Center also seeks compensatory damages under the 

Fair Housing Act for frustration of its mission. 

33. Defendant Marion E. Halstead, acting individually and as trustee for the Marion E. 

Halstead Revocable Trust dated October 11, 2002, has engaged in a pattern and practice of 

discrimination based on disability. 

34. There now exists an actual controversy between the parties regarding duties under 

federal and state laws. Accordingly, plaintiff is entitled to declaratory relief. 

35. Unless enjoined, defendant will continue to engage in the discriminatory conduct 

described in this complaint. Accordingly, plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief.  

VI.  CLAIMS  

FIRST CLAIM  
Fair Housing Act 

(42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq.) 
 

36. Plaintiff reallege and incorporate by reference all previous paragraphs in this 

complaint. 

37. Defendants have injured Plaintiff by committing discriminatory housing practices 

in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604(a), 3604(b), 3604(c), and 3604(f), 

including but not limited to the following conduct: 

a. Engaging in any conduct relating to the provision of housing which otherwise 

makes unavailable or denies dwellings to persons because of handicap or 

disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) and (f)(1); 

b. Discriminating in the terms, conditions or privileges of rental of a dwelling 
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because of handicap or disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b) and (f)(2); 

c. Making, printing or publishing, or causing to be made, printed or published, any 

notice, statement or advertisement with respect to the rental of a dwelling that 

indicates any preference, limitation or discrimination because of handicap or 

disability, or an intention to make any such preference, limitation or 

discrimination, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c); and, 

d. Using words, phrases or photographs which convey that dwellings are available or 

not available to a particular group of persons because of handicap or disability, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c) and 24 C.F.R. § 100.75(c)(1). 

38. Accordingly, plaintiff is an aggrieved person entitled to relief under the Fair 

Housing Act. 

SECOND CLAIM 
Indiana Fair Housing Act 

(Indiana Code, Title 22, Article 9.5, Chapter 5) 
 

39. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous paragraphs in this 

complaint.  

40. Defendant injured plaintiff by committing discriminatory housing practices in 

violation of the Indiana Fair Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5 et seq., including but not limited to 

the following conduct: 

a. Refusing to negotiate for the rental of a dwelling, or otherwise making un 

available or denying a dwelling to any person because of disability, in violation of 

Ind. Code § 22-9.5-5-1 (a) and 22-9.5-5-5 (a); 

b. Discriminating against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the 

rental of a dwelling because of disability, in violation of Ind. Code § 22-9.5-5-1 
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(b) and 22-9.5-5-5 (b); and, 

c. Making a statement with respect to the rental of dwelling that indicates any 

preference, limitation, or discrimination based on disability, or an intention to 

make such a preference, limitation, or discrimination, in violation of Ind. Code § 

22-9.5-5-2. 

THIRD CLAIM 
Negligence 

(Indiana Code, Title 34, Article 51, Chapter 2) 
 

41. Plaintiff reallege and incorporate by reference all previous paragraphs in this 

complaint.  

42. Defendant injured Plaintiff by breaching his duty of care in the operation of his 

dwellings or supervision of their employees and agents.  

43. This negligence includes failure to train, monitor and supervise his employees 

and/or agents and his failure to ensure compliance with the federal Fair Housing Act, the Indiana 

Fair Housing Act, and applicable regulations. 

44. Defendant’s breach of his duty of care was a proximate cause of injury to 

Plaintiff, entitling Plaintiff to damages. 

VII.  RELIEF 

Wherefore, plaintiff prays for the following relief: 

i. That the Court permanently enjoin all unlawful practices alleged in this complaint 

and impose injunctive relief prohibiting defendant, his partners, agents, employees, assignees, 

and all persons acting in concert or participating with him, from violating the unlawful practices 

alleged herein; 

ii. That the Court enter a permanent injunction directing defendant, his partners, 
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agents, and employees to take all affirmative steps necessary to remedy the effects of the illegal, 

discriminatory conduct described herein and to prevent similar occurrences in the future; 

iii. That the Court declare that defendant has violated the provisions of applicable 

federal and state laws; 

iv. That the Court award compensatory and punitive damages to Plaintiff according 

to proof; 

v. That the Court grant reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the suit to plaintiff; 

and, 

vi. That the Court grant all such other relief as the Court deems just.  

Dated: May 17, 2023. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

  
/s/ Liza Cristol-Deman   
Liza Cristol-Deman (CA 190516) 
Brancart & Brancart 
P.O. Box 686 
Pescadero, CA 94060 
lcristoldeman@brancart.com 
Tel: (650) 879-0141 
Fax: (650) 879-1103 
 
/s/ Thomas E. Crishon    
Thomas E. Crishon (28513-49) 
Indiana Disability Rights 
4755 Kingsway Dr., Suite 100 
Indianapolis, IN 46205 
tcrishon@indianadisabilityrights.org 
Tel: (317) 722-3443 
Fax: (317) 722-5564 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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